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THE INQUIRY CONTINUED, AS FOLLOWS, ON WEDNESDAY, 6TH

DECEMBER 2023

CHAIR: Good morning, everyone.

CONTINUED EXAMINATION OF MR. YOUNG BY MR. WOLFE KC:

MR. WOLFE KC: Good morning, Mr. Young. I had
a nightmare last night that I was about to question
Boris Johnson this morning. That must be some other

Inquiry.

Just to recap, yesterday we spent some time focusing on
the four issues that went to make up the MHPS
investigation and I suppose focusing on three of those
at least, leaving aside the private patients issue.

I think you would accept that the three other issues,
charts at home, triage, dictation, together might
indicate that Mr. 0'Brien appeared to be a doctor in
difficulty, a doctor who wasn't meeting the standards
that were expected of him and I think you accepted
towards the end of our discussion that more could have
been done by you, by other people, to address this, to
challenge this, and you, I think, indicated that

Mr. O'Brien was not necessarily an easy person to

challenge.

I want, in the course of this morning, to pose

a question in terms of why the issues in relation to
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Mr. O'Brien were not detected or addressed at an
earlier stage. Wwe'll come on and look at whether

appraisal was a useful tool.

You took over appraisal duties with regards to

Mr. O'Brien from 2010, with the introduction of the
appraisal system. But before we get to that, there's
a couple of other issues I wish to explore with you
under this broad heading of why the issues surrounding
Mr. O'Brien didn't get addressed sooner. I wonder
whether you would agree with me that some early

warnings were ignored.

In that Respect I want to raise with you the evidence
given to the Inquiry by Mr. Christopher Hagan, who you
will be aware has given a statement to the Inquiry and
given evidence. I want to take up his witness
statement with you at wIT-98844 and at paragraph 26,
just to recap, he recalls that he was a Urology
Specialist Registrar in the Craigavon Hospital as part
of his rotation. He was there in the year 2000 and he
goes on, at paragraph 27, to explain that there was

a Thursday morning ward round, that you and Mr. O'Brien
had your own sets of patients. He attended this ward
round. It meant that you and Mr. O'Brien were involved
with each other's patients, that you would have had

a knowledge of each other's patients and would have

covered for each other at various times.
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He goes on at paragraph 29 to set out the fact that he
had nine areas of concern in respect of Mr. 0'Brien's
practice, which he sets out in his witness statement.

If I could just list those so that you are oriented.

He had concerns about IV antibiotic use. He had
concerns about a benign cystectomy performed on

a patient, apparently simply because she had recurrent
UTIs, that's his recollection. He had concerns about
the performance of long TURPs, one case going up to
nearly two hours in the procedure. Concerns about
ureteric stone management and a particular incident
where he perforated a ureter. He had concerns about
paediatric urology, a radical prostatectomy, concerns
about a penile disassembly process, and concerns about
outpatient practice administrative delay. So a host of

issues set out in his statement.

Then, if we just scroll down to paragraph 32, so these
are the 1list of issues I've just read out. Just
WIT-98852. He says:

"1 did raise issues with Mr. O"Brien about his practice
during my time as a surgical trainee. Mr. O"Brien did
not agree with me and was essentially dismissive.

I did also raise issues with Mr. O"Brien with his
consultant colleague, Mr. Young, during my rotation.
This would have been in an informal manner, and 1 would

not have recorded them in written form. It would not
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have occurred to me at the time to do that. It means
that 1 cannot now say precisely what 1 raised with

Mr. Young, or how precisely I said 1t. My recollection
of Mr. Young®"s response to what 1 said was "that"s just
Aidan®. Mr. Young did not give me the impression that
he had any major concerns about the matters 1| was
raising. | don"t know If Mr. Young spoke to

Mr. O"Brien about anything or if Mr. Young spoke to
anyone else about them. 1 certainly thought at the
time that | was brave in speaking to both the

consultant himself and to the consultant colleague.™

If I can leave that there. So your position, as

I understand it from your addendum statement,

Mr. Young, is while you recall Mr. Hagan's presence at
Craigavon as part of his rotation, you don't recall him
raising any serious concerns with you?

This goes back 23 years.

of course, yes?

And it's a bit hard to get a full recollection of

a precise conversation. I don't recall Mr. Hagan
raising any of these sort of major concerns. I know
that on ward rounds he would be talking about certain
patients and I certainly do remember Mr. Hagan and

Mr. O'Brien having -- well, both had an interest in
prostate cancer and they would have had conversations
about treatment plans and the way that it is looked
after, but I don't recollect specific points raised by

Mr. Hagan here on these points.
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I just want to show you how you put it in your
statement. If we go to WIT-103605. Conscious that
Mr. Hagan introduces the important caveat that he
cannot specifically recall what he specifically raised
with you, but it's the sense of his evidence that he
believes that he raised some of these significant

issues with you. You have said there at 1.01:

"There i1s always the expectation that a registrar, as
part of their training, will Inquire about care
pathways for patients. For instance, 1 recall

Mr. Hagan would have discussed prostate cancer

management with Mr. O"Brien on ward rounds."

what you have just said a moment or two ago.

"However, 1 did not ever iInterpret this as a concern
and I do not recall Mr. Hagan during his six-month
attachment ever raising any serious issues because

I would have acted upon them."

we saw yesterday that in terms of the issues that you
were aware of, your actions upon them were, I think you
would agree, fairly minimal and certainly lacking in
any great aggression and they weren't resolved. Wwhen
you say here you would have acted upon them, on what
basis would you have acted upon them? How would you
have acted upon them if, for example, you were aware of

the operation performed on the patient for recurrent
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UTIs, the removal of her bladder, benign cystectomy.

How would you have acted upon that if you had been

aware of 1it?

I would have inquired about why the procedure was

performed in the first place from Mr. O'Brien. I am

aware of the antibiotics and fluids being used to treat

urinary tract infections, that's a detailed discussion,

but to do a cystectomy purely for an infective reason

is very unusual. I must say, I have had one case

myself that I've undertaken a cystectomy for, but that

was very detailed.

Now, at this stage I was just a consultant 18 months or

That's one case in 30 years.

a year, I think, so I was taking on board what was

being undertaken in the unit, but I am unaware of the

precise nature of the case that you are referring to.

There are patients who have had a cystectomy who do get

urinary tract infections, it is relatively common. So

I was maybe taking it that if this case was in front of

me that this was an ileal conduit patient who was

having a recurrent urinary tract infection as part of

that history, but I'm not aware of the case that you're

referring to of why she had a cystectomy, I'm afraid.

But if you are telling me that it was done for an

infective perspective, yes, I would have been more

interested in finding out the past history to the case.

well, let me put it in these terms. Mr. Hagan at that

time was a trainee.

It would have been unusual, would
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it not, for trainees to be as vocal as he claims to be
in his statement? In other words, he claims to have
raised, both with you and with Mr. 0'Brien, a range of
issues of concern. That would be unusual for a junior?
It would be unusual for a junior. I haven't had any
other juniors raising such a list of questions.

Yes. While you don't recall precisely, it being

23 years ago, do you recall Mr. Hagan as being

a particularly interested and perhaps vocal trainee 1in
terms of raising issues?

Mr. Hagan's demeanour of putting a question across,
sometimes you didn't realise if he was asking

a question or making a statement. That's maybe just

a personality thing at the time. I do agree that, as

a registrar, as I was a year or two before that,
sometimes it is hard to raise things and it takes a bit
of courage to actually challenge something, so I do
agree with that statement.

Do you also agree that in terms of the descriptions
that he provides, conscious that you don't have access
to the particulars, you now don't have access to the
particulars of these individual cases, but going on his
descriptions, a TURP taking nearly two hours to perform
before the case is closed, a penile disassembly, an
injury to a ureter in circumstances where the
protections that you would usually use for stone
fragmentation are not in place, as I say, a benign
cystectomy, are those the kinds of cases that would

qualify as serious concerns, at least on the face of
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it?

Yes, absolutely on the face of it is the question that
you're asking. I was just not aware of him having
those raised. If he has raised them, certainly they
are very concerning.

would you agree with me that, as a matter of
governance, they each require, if they were raised with
you or if you were aware of them, they each require
some form of response, in the first instance, perhaps
drawing Mr. O'Brien's attention to your concern or the
trainee's concern, and then escalating appropriately if
you are not satisfied with the response you receive?
Yes. That's true. A TUR going on for two hours is

a long period of time. A perforated ureter, and

I understand that this needed an open operative
procedure to correct, is something that you rarely
would want to see.

Just thinking about the long TURP issue, because

I think you reflect in your statement that while you
have no specific memory of Mr. Hagan raising that with
you, if we go to your statement at WIT-98847 -- sorry,
just pause that a moment, I think it's the wrong
reference. Yes, WIT-103608. Here you are talking
about the TUR being a well-recognised entity in
urology. You say that several features are relevant,
one of which is the duration of resection. But you

say:

"The critical point, however, is the Tluid balance as

10
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opposed to the precise time scales.™

You go on to say it is the aim to finish within the
hour. Just scrolling down. It was in association with
incident, or this matter, that Mr. Hagan believes that
your response might have been something along the Tines
of 'that's just Aidan'.

If we scroll down just a Tittle further, you say that
that is a phrase that would have been used by yourself
and others, in general terms, but it wouldn't have been
a phrase that you would have used when responding to
something 1like this, a TURP of this duration. So
you're suggesting that if the matter had been raised
with you, you would have taken a more serious tone or
a more earnest response than that?

Yes, as I say, a TUR prostrate for up to two hours is
going to put people at added risk, even with taking all
of the monitoring events of height of fluid and
measuring the ins and outs and risk of bleeding. 1It's
not just one feature, it's there are several features
that contribute to hyponatremia and glycemias, one 1is
the duration of time. oOur teaching in urology is that
a TURP 1is usually done within the hour. There 1is a
Tittle bit of science behind the hour, but it's not

a dogma that you have to finish before the hour.
Certainly there's occasions that the patient will have
absorbed fluid well in advance of the hour. So it is

the monitoring of it throughout the whole procedure

11
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Q.

that is very important. But there is increased risk
observed if it goes on beyond the hour. Now, if

you are going to put an exact clock on it, that's not
wise, because it may take an extra 5 or 10 minutes to
complete the operation, and completing the operation

meaning to stop any bleeding.

Another issue is maybe a surgical technique but it's
all about surface area, so if you can reduce the
surface area that's likely to bleed a 1little bit extra,
resection is going to complete the procedure. But

I would use the words "a Tittle extra time", and that's
where we're coming into what you are talking about. So
I do find it unusual. I would say it is not acceptable
to go on for two hours. And I'm not aware -- and
that's exactly why I said in my statement here, if
somebody came to me and said this operation went on far
too long, I asked, well, was there a complication of
hyponatremia, so that would be a question I would have
asked the registrar.

If you are unlikely to have dismissed such a concern as
that's just Aidan', where does that phrase come from?
It is a phrase that, clearly, Mr. Hagan has heard on
his evidence. It is a phrase that you have accepted
that you and others have used. what does the phrase --
where does it derive from or what does it convey?

well I don't know where it derived from. I know I'm
quoted here as saying it, but I think it has come from

the ward in some capacity. It is not me making that

12
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up. But i1t is conveying that Mr. O0'Brien has certain
ways of doing things and that's his plan, that's his

policy, that's the way he Tooks after certain things

and I think everybody has their own wee sort of foibles

of how they do things.

Maybe we shouldn't read too much into that kind of
phrasing, but is it suggestive that in certain
circumstances Mr. O'Brien 1is acting in an
unconventional manner outwith what would be expected?
Unconventional, I wouldn't accept that. I think
there's certain ways people go about doing things.

I think if I had seen something that was
unconventional, then that would be challenged; if

that's fair enough.

well, not doing triage is unconventional, would you say

"that's just Aidan' or would you say that's...
well, it's proving to be that way.

You go on, at 3.6, just that as you say:

"1 have no recollection of having discussions around

this i1ssue with others.™

But you do recall being generally aware that

Mr. O'Brien had on occasions taken more than one hour
for a TURP. You believe you're aware of this
informally through theatre tearoom chat?

Yes.

Does that suggest that those participating in theatre

with Mr. O0'Brien, because you would hardly be in

13
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theatre with Mr. 0'Brien, are bringing this out as an
unusual feature of his approach? 1In other words, it
was so significant that it warranted discussion as an
unusual feature in the tea room, is that what you are
putting across there?

I'm putting across that if the nurses are talking in
theatre that a procedure has taken a long length of
time or longer than usual, or if a theatre Tist has run
over because of an excess time attached to a particular
procedure. Yes, so it is a topic that maybe somebody
has brought up and it may be observed that Mr. O0'Brien
is performing TURPs for Tonger than an hour, maybe more
than the other team members.

I would venture to suggest that the Panel are not
particularly interested in the minutiae of these
individual incidents, I would say. Wwhat they are
interested in, and no doubt you'll hear from them this
afternoon with some questions, what they are probably
interested in is where you have clinical issues raised
such as this, so that they become part of your
awareness, whether they come through Mr. Hagan or
whether they come through tearoom chat, they're all
pointing in the direction of a problem or a potential
problem, one that needs investigated and potentially
addressed. Did you ever raise excessive time
performing TURPs with Mr. O'Brien?

No, I don't believe that I have. I mean, if a TURP is
going to go on between 15 minutes and 10 or 15 minutes

over the hour, that's to complete the operative

14
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procedure.

of string, okay?

There is an element of how long is a piece

So the whole issue 1is, is there

a complication occurring at the end of the day. The

major point about TURP is hyponatremia due to glycine

absorption.

That is the crux of the matter. A very

important part of TURPs surgery is to stop bleeding at

the end of the operation.

So some people may operate

more slowly than others and, therefore, it may take

them longer to complete the task. So the issue 1is

about complication rather than a precise time. But,

coming full circle to the question that you're asking,

if I had known that a procedure had gone on for two

hours, that is excessive and it needs a conversation to

be had of why.

why, for instance, well a TURP going on

for two hours, obviously the prostate is large. Wwhy do

you not do a hemiprostatectomy, just do the one lobe,

and come back a second time and do the second. That's

maybe a point of techniques, but it's the risk of

complication I might get back to.

But, I mean, I must say,

hours.

I haven't done a TURP for two

I have done TURPs that go over the hour, but

you're always very wary of the nurse in your ear saying

the time, it is now half an hour, it is now 45 minutes,

it is now an hour, do you not -- it is a live

interaction with the theatre staff, who are the nurses,

and the anaesthetist at the top end. So it is not just

you working on, there's a 1live environment to the whole

thing.

15
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So I think you have helped us as much as you can with
that particular issue and Mr. Hagan's input. The point
remains that -- just to use the TURP as the vehicle for
this governance issue -- the point remains is that you
have become aware, tearoom gossip maybe, but the issue
has been discussed, assumedly, because people think it
is unusual, and it gets to your ears at an early point,
perhaps an early point in your working relationship
with Mr. O0'Brien. You haven't specified the date, but
when you think about it now were there issues coming to
your attention, even at the Tevel of suspicion, that
you should have been addressing with Mr. O0'Brien 1in
association with his clinical practice?

Certainly not at this stage. This is the year 2000.

I had just joined the unit. I was building my own
practice. I was getting to know the arena. I trained
in Belfast, Mr. O0'Brien trained in Dublin. 1It's

a different set-up, people might treat things in

a slightly different way. You have to take it on
board. But, as I say, bringing this to the table about
the duration of the operation, as much as the focus, is
Mr. O'Brien has a bit of a slow nature. He does
everything slowly, so it is going to take him slightly
Tonger. But, coming full circle is was I observing

a higher incidence of hyponatremia due to glycine
absorption, at this stage no. We, the same as any
unit, it has cases of this, but we weren't having
excessive numbers of cases with hyponatremia being

focused on one particular surgeon. And that continues

16
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for the next ten years that we're talking about.

I think you would accept that the longer the TURP

procedure goes on, the greater the risk of

hyponatremia?

controlled in order to reduce the risk.

It is one factor that should be

Sometimes, as

you say, it is not possible to conclude within the

hour, shouldn't be dogmatic about that, but it is

a risk factor and in Mr. 0'Brien's practice it appears

to have been a factor that people were talking about?

Yes, I agree with that.

Beyond the hour increases risk

of complication and, yes, here we have this. But the

question is did the complication occur?

It increases

the risk of it but the important point is did it happen

and was the length of the operation due to a safety

issue of, for instance, was the patient bleeding. But,

yes, I agree, it is a wee bit of an alarm bell to say

here is somebody that keeps on operating beyond the

hour.

If it's an alarm bell, I suppose the question arises

from a governance perspective, what is the clinical

Tead doing about it?

well, it's observing if there was a complication.

Again, it comes back to how long is a piece of string?

An operation starts and finishes.

You know, you have

to get all the joined up writing in the middle of that.

I'm not entirely sure my responsibility of what you're

saying here.

the recovery staff, there's the admissions to intensive

care,

there's the anaesthetic service.

17
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It is all very
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Tive and observing. Are cases like this brought to the

Patient Safety Meeting, you know, if there was

a complication as such. So I understand what you're

saying. There could be a conversation held: Yes,

Mr. O'Brien, why are you being observed to be operating

for more than an hour? An answer could be: I was

completing the operation, you know, and I haven't had

any problems. So I'm not certain if, you know, this

was one point and, as you're saying, you're adding up

all the points together and trying to put the jigsaw

together, I understand that.

Mr. Hagan drew the Inquiry's attention to the use of IV

antibiotics and fluids with particular patients. 1If

we just pull up his statement in that respect,
WIT-98845. 3Just scroll down to 31. This is the first

of the concerns he set out:

"There was a group of patients that seemed to me to be

being regularly admitted to the ward for antibiotics

and 1V fluids by Mr. O"Brien. My recollection is that

these patients would make contact with Mr. O"Brien in

some way and be admitted directly to the ward as an

in-patient for treatment. When I asked about this

practice, the ward nurses referred to this treatment as

“"Mr. O"Brien®s regime”™. |1 would do an unaccompanied

ward round every morning during my six months rotation

when 1 would come across these patients. It was often

not clear to me the reason for this approach or the

evidence base for the treatment.

18
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who fell into this category could have been managed as
outpatients as they could eat and drink. 1 did not
encounter this approach in any other urological unit

I worked in before or since."

It's fair to say that some of the issues that Mr. Hagan
has highlighted have been described by him as not
necessarily crystallising when he was at the Craigavon
Area Hospital, they may have occurred to him later,
perhaps with experience and reflection. This is one
issue that he took away with him. He's not suggesting
that he raised it with you. Were you aware that this
was Mr. O'Brien's regime, as he has described it?

Yes, I recognise that. Mr. O0'Brien would have admitted
patients who had had a history of urinary tract
infection and this was a method of trying to control
the situation. This was Mr. 0'Brien's regime of
Tooking after the condition.

Yes. This is a trainee who, as I say, it might have
been a Tater crystallisation of a concern, leave the
timing to one side, he is describing it as a concern.
was it a concern that you as a more experienced,
obviously qualified consultant, had?

I also Tater partook in the principle of Iv fluids and
antibiotics. This was further down the Tine in my
career. The treatment pathway of people with urinary
tract infections is very common from a urology
perspective, predominantly looked after by the GPs.

There are a small percentage will come our way for more

19
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complex discussion with the patient in how to treat

them and then there will be those patients that our

outpatient consultations and advice aren't working

fully. Then you are getting people coming in with

sepsis, people coming to our clinics that aren't

sensitive to the oral antibiotics and only sensitive to

the intravenous ones. Then there's a group that will

be responding to the oral antibiotics, will have been

on prophylactic antibiotics, and when the treatment

stops, the infections come back fairly promptly.

Forgive me, Mr. Young, I asked you whether you had

a concern about the approach in the way that Mr. Hagan

did?

Okay. Right, Mr. O'Brien has obviously been in post

considerably longer than I had and I think would have

collected more patients than I had; I had only been

there a short period of time. So he was entering into

a plan of action for admitting people for fluids and

antibiotics. Now, you would have to ask Mr. O'Brien

his approach to why he did that but there's a small

select set of patients that are needing a special

approach to. But, again, it is very much on an

individual basis and you would have to ask Mr. O'Brien

about his approach to those individual ones. But I can

comment that I've also had patients that I've admitted

for antibiotics, but this was further down in my

career.

Forgive me again, Mr. Young. A very straightforward

question:

In the year 2000 Mr. Hagan observed this.

20

10:43

10:43

10:44

10:44

10:44



O 00 N O v h W N B

N N N NN NNNNDNRRRRRRBRRPR R R
© 00 N O U & W N R O ©W 0 N O U1 A WN R O

NJ
NJ

23

o

His concern about it may have crystallised somewhat
Tater, we don't know. In 2000, did you have a concern,
did you have any concern about the practice at in point
before The Trust raised it in 20097

In 2000 I wouldn't have, myself, partaken in that
approach to treating patients, so I would agree with
Mr. Hagan that it was maybe not standard practice 1in
the way of treating a patient with such a condition.
And it not being a standard practice, you being aware
that it's happening on the ward, you do a joint ward
round with Mr. O0'Brien on a Thursday, you're aware of
each other's patients. Is it something you raised with
him, discussed with him, got to understand?

we would have discussed it on the ward round, about
patients having the treatment but it's a two-way
conversation. He had felt this was a way of looking
after patients with such infections. I agree, I hadn't
used that policy in my training in Belfast, it was
different. But he was trying to approach a clinical
situation. I don't know if Mr. O'Brien had used this
in his training in Dublin, for instance. But it was

a clinical approach to looking after a condition and

I was observing if it was working or not. But,

I agree, it's not the standard practice, and I agree
with Mr. Hagan making comments on that. So, yes, I do
agree with what I was trying to explain earlier, but --
But you didn't so it was a different, unconventional
might be an appropriate word. You didn't challenge 1t?

I would have challenged it on the ward rounds about
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asking about why you're taking this approach. But
there's a conversation coming back and whether you
accept that or not, that's a clinical decision.

You've gone on to say in your answer a moment or two
that you went on to develop a practice of bringing
patients in for IV antibiotic management. I'm
interested to know whether there's a distinction
between your approach and that of Mr. O0'Brien. Before
I come to that question, let me just bring up on the
screen your statement in this respect. WwIT-51814, and

at paragraph 63.1 you're saying:

"My first awareness that The Trust had issues of

concern regarding Mr. O"Brien was in 2009."

I just park that for a moment. we saw yesterday that
you were aware of concerns around triage in 2008,

I think Mrs. Cunningham's email was fed up to you. But
this you are describing was your first awareness that
The Trust had concerns with Mr. O0'Brien. 2009, he is
admitting patients who had a chronic history of urinary
tract infections on an elective basis for IV

antibiotics and fluids. You say:

"It should be noted that I also admitted patients for
intravenous antibiotics but they either had infections

present or were symptomatic. The Medical Director at

the time, Dr. Loughran, commissioned an external review

of this practice. This resulted in the elective
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admission of these patients stopping, with a new Trust

pathway being put in place.”

You're differentiating your practice from Mr. O'Brien's
practice in this respect. Wwhat is the distinction that
you're highlighting here?

Mr. O0'Brien would have electively admitted patients for
the fluids and antibiotics. My approach was for
patients that weren't -- that had an infection, that
had been through the use of prophylactic antibiotics
where they had been stopped and the patient had
developed a urinary tract infection again and again and
again, and the use of oral antibiotics weren't working
properly to treat their infection, I would have
admitted them for intravenous gentamicin. Now, the
other aspect of that is patients may -- there are
several patients have commented on 'I've been on oral
antibiotics for a Tong time here but when I get the
intravenous antibiotics, it lasts six months'; they are
getting a good amount of time out of the use of the

intravenous approach to it.

The other -- although I did have a planned admission
for some people, I did try to target their time of
admission to be similar to when they were recording
that their infections were coming back. So if somebody
noted that they had been on a course of antibiotics for
three months -- sorry, and got three months out of it,

then I would be trying to pinpoint their admission to
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actually be at the three-month spell. So I was using
it to try to target patients when they were having
their recurrent infections, and to give them a proper

dose of an antibiotic.

So is it your suggestion that Mr. O'Brien was admitting

patients who did not have evidence of urinary infection

and symptoms, whereas your approach was focused on
patients who either had infection present, who were
symptomatic or, taking your three-month approach who
were likely to be symptomatic around that point 1in
time?

Yes. I was trying to target the therapy to be of the
right antibiotic to treat it for the right length of
time, and I was very focused on the patients who were

symptomatic.

There are some patients actually, although there was
two patients I know of that, although I was planning
a date to come in, they had attended casualty and one
Tady had come in on that planned three months, for
instance, and she was well when she came in but got
septic on the award, for instance, so I did have it
timed right. But it's getting the right antibiotic.
Just to be clear, are you saying Mr. O0'Brien's

patients, in your experience did not have evidence of

the presence of infection or had not developed symptoms
of emerging infection whereas, by contrast, yours did?
Sorry, I was answering for myself there. Certainly my

observation of Mr. O'Brien's patients is that they were
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more often admitted electively without a proven
infection. Some may still have had a urine culture
done that had been positive but it's the symptomatic
nature. So that was my observation, that his set of
patients were more likely to be elective.

So you were, for a period of some years, aware of

Mr. O'Brien admitting patients electively without --
and commencing the treatment without proof of
infection?

Yes, our unit did a paper on this and it did show that
this plan of action did reduce the number of acute
admissions to the ward. So there was some science
behind it but it probably could have been at a higher
Tevel.

CHAIR: Sorry to interrupt, Mr. Wwolfe. Forgive me,
Mr. Young, I'm trying to get this clear in my head.
I'm not entirely clear what you mean by Mr. 0'Brien
admitting patients electively and how that differed
from what you were doing by scheduling an admission in
three months' time. So can you please explain, just
for my understanding, the difference?

I was observing that patients had a time frame between
having a treatment and then coming --

CHAIR: Needing it again?

-- and then when they would have had an infection again
and I was trying to plan that. And sometimes that
planning, the patient was ahead of me and would be
admitted via casualty. So I was trying to focus more

on the patients that were going to get an infection, a
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symptomatic infection.

CHAIR: Forgive me, is that not what Mr. O'Brien was
doing too? These were people with recurrent infections
who -- I'm just trying to see where the difference is.
Okay. So I was trying to focus on patients who had
symptoms at a certain period of time and try to get 1in
ahead of the game. I think the approach that

Mr. O'Brien was he was electively admitting people to
have IV fluids and antibiotics to then reduce their
risk of subsequently having an infection. It was an
elective admission every three or four months that

he would have brought them in, whether they had
symptoms or a urine culture that was positive.

CHAIR: But surely you were doing the same thing In
that you were saying come back in three months and
we'll give you another dose of this antibiotic.
Assuming you -- I mean, you're saying that you had
focused on what you thought was the right time period,
but I'm just -- you got lucky, if you like, that they
were symptomatic when they came in. They may not have
been, would you have still given them the antibiotic
when they came in?

No, if they weren't symptomatic. I did have a few
patients that I had seen a pattern and I brought them
back for their fluids, I mean it's only two or three
out of the whole group. My approach to this was that
it was the intravenous antibiotics, it's the strength
of the antibiotic that is the crux to the matter.

I say that, I have three or four of the ladies who said
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that they had been on oral antibiotics and, yes, it
worked, but it didn't work for Tong enough and whenever
they stopped the antibiotic, their urinary tract
infection was coming back at a much earlier, quick
stage. Whereas if they had had -- when they had the
intravenous antibiotics of gentamicin, they said I've
had a good six months here. That is quite good.
CHAIR: I get that. I get what you were trying to do
and why you were trying to do it. But I'm just still
confused as to what Mr. 0'Brien was doing that was
different from what you were doing?

I was maybe waiting for the patient to be sort of
phoning up to say 'I'm getting into trouble here'.
whereas the elective admission is you're well and you
just come back in three months' time to have

a treatment, to try to stave off the potential.

So Mr. 0'Brien was scheduling them to come back 1in
three months' time but you were waiting until you got
a phone call to say, 'yes, it's back again, and I have
to come in'?

In the vast majority of cases. I do accept I've had
cases where I have brought them back. There's

a specific lady that I have in mind. In fact we had

a case conference on her with the microbiologist and
the nephrologist and she was actually put on permanent
prophylactic antibiotics on a cyclical basis. So it
was a very targeted treatment plan for an individual
Tady with a urinary tract infection.

CHAIR: I'm sure we'll hear from Mr. O'Brien in due
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29 Q.
A.
30 Q.

course.
Yes.

CHAIR: There may be less of a distinction than I'm
seeing, I think. But we'll move on, perhaps,

Mr. wolfe.

MR. WOLFE KC: Let's bear in mind that the reason we're
even looking at this issue is through the lens of
trying to work out, you wearing your clinical lead hat
and others who might or should have been aware of an
issue such as this, whether you might be said to be
guilty of dignoring an early warning that Mr. O'Brien
was practising in a way that was unconventional, that
should have been challenged, just like a collection of
other issues that we have looked at and are to look at.

That's why we're in this field.

You have explained to us that the first time you were
aware of The Trust being concerned about Mr. O'Brien's
practice was this issue, 2009.

Yes.

You were aware of this issue for some time and, while
you had discussions about it, didn't challenge it. As
you've explained to the Chair just now, you would argue
that there was a distinction, perhaps a fine
distinction between your approach and Mr. O'Brien's

approach.

Can you help us to understand before we move forward

why you didn't, in essence, challenge and perhaps
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escalate what was an unconventional medicine on

Mr. O'Brien's part?

I can't answer that question fully. I do know that our
Medical Director, Dr. Loughran, got involved in this
and had taken advice outside of The Trust.

Dr. Loughran and I had a meeting about all of this. He
told me what the plan of action was going to be and it
was to involve the microbiologist, and I was in full
agreement with that because I said to him: 1If we're
going to stop this practice, can you at least allow me
to speak to the microbiologist to plan a care pathway.
Actually, out of this we got our ambulatory ward unit
which had -- part and parcel of it was the provision of
the IV antibiotics with a care pathway that involved
the microbiologist being involved. I was in full
agreement with that and followed that pathway.

Let's just Took at some of the contemporaneous

documents to tease this through.

The issue arose in 2009. You've explained that

a protocol or a care pathway was developed. The Trust
sought some external advice which Mr. Mark Fordham
provided. But we will look at all of that, and
thinking about two questions, first of all whether the
Trust differentiated between your practice and that of
Mr. O'Brien's. And, secondly, perhaps more
importantly, in terms of the Inquiry's enterprise is
whether Mr. 0'Brien or indeed yourself complied

initially or at all with the new protocol and the new
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pathway that was introduced. So with those thoughts in

mind let us start with wIT-11850.

1st December 2009,

the issue has already been discussed

with you and Mr. O'Brien. Here you have a meeting of

senior managers, including Acting Chief Executive and

Medical Director.

If we scroll down, we can see this

issue is the subject under "quality and safety". It 1is

described as a key issue:

"The Evidence base for the current practice of IV

antibiotics for up to seven days repeated regularly

requires urgent validation. There"s a current cohort

of 38 patients even though this clinical practice

appeared to change after commitment given to
Dr. Loughran at the end of July 2009."

That's alluding to the fact that both yourself and

Mr. O'Brien had met with Dr. Loughran in the summer and

apparently a commitment had been given to stop the

practice of bringing patients in. Do you recall giving

that commitment?

I do, yes.

The point being that there's still a cohort of 38

patients, some of which, the majority of which were

Mr. O'Brien's, some of which were yours, 1is that right?

Yes. I've seen the 1list that you have provided. There

was maybe six or seven cases of mine and I can account

for their pathway.

They were the patients that were

30

11:05

11:05

11:06

11:06

11:06



O 00 N O v h W N B

N N N NN NNNNDNRRRRRRBRRPR R R
© 00 N O U & W N R O ©W 0 N O U1 A WN R O

33

having continued urinary tract infections and had been
admitted, for instance, via A&E. So, yes, and I did
have a consultation face to face with Dr. Loughran
about this. My approach, as I've said there, was as
Tong as I can get speaking to the microbiologist for
firm advice, I'm perfectly willing to comply as you
point out.

I am anxious to move through these issues fairly
quickly. Dr. Loughran was going to have a discussion
with Mr. Fordham to get urgent professional opinion on

the appropriateness and safety of the current practice.

Then if we go down to TRU-251041. This 1is a short

note. I suppose a couple of key aspects in 1it, that:

"The current regimes do not have a scientific
evidence-base and, number six, there iIs no need to
treat patients who are able to drink normally with 1V
fluids.™

I suppose from The Trust perspective this is viewed as
supportive of their view that before you would engage
in intravenous antibiotics with this cadre of patients,
you would have to or you should run it through

microbiological opinion before commencement.

I want to take you to then apparent deviation from what
had been agreed. Maybe I have your answer to that

already but I just want to check it. If we go to
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TRU-259410.
Dr. Rankin.

It's a year

This 1is Martina Corrigan writing to
It's the summer of the following year.

since this issue was raised with you. And

she is saying:

""'See attached the update on IV fluids and antibiotic

recent admissions. 1 checked with Shirley if any of

these had involvement from bacteriology and she has

advised that these are the routine elective patients

who are admitted and treated prophylactically,

irrespective of positive or negative culture results.

To my knowledge the consultants have not discussed any

of them with Dr. Damani®s team."

And that's the microbiologist. 3Just scrolling down,

we can see that there's a Tist of patients behind this.

The first 11

the second 1

Is it the case that, not withstanding the imposition of

st is Mr. O'Brien's. Scrolling on down,

ist, a shorter list, 1is yours.

a protocol which was to involve microbiology advice,

that there was still a residual reluctance to comply?

As I say, here's my Tist. If it wasn't myself phoning

the microbiologist, it was one of the juniors under my

instruction.

The first patient, it is the second on

the 1ist there, was a frequent admission with

infection.

He had tried his antibiotics at home, would

come to casualty and would be admitted to the ward for

treatment.

on these occasions he came to the
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ambulatory centre with a positive urine. I remember

very well phoning the microbiologist myself about him.

The second Tady -- sorry, third down, is a lady that
I referred to that ended up with case conference and
being on the antibiotics for prophylaxis for a year as
a treatment plan and she would still be admitted with

infection from a symptomatic point of view.

Five down is a lady, very complex history. Yes, has
had 1Iv fluids and antibiotics. This Tady was admitted
with sepsis. This is the Tady that I referred to that
I've done a cystectomy on for infection. Very complex.
Is it the case -- I'm not sure we need -- I think your
broad answer 1is the continuation of antibiotics,
recommencement of antibiotics in these cases is
justifiable. 2nd September of that year, TRU-281845,
this is Dr. Rankin writing to Dr. Loughran. If we just
scroll down to the bottom of this page, she says it is
of concern to her that the agreement -- basically the

pathway or the protocol as set out above --

"...has not been followed by Mr. Young and Mr. O"Brien,
in particular I understand that there are seven
patients remaining on the 1V treatment and two or

possibly three have permanent intravenous access."

So the Trust has taken the view that the agreement

wasn't being followed in one shape or form. That's not
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something you agree with?

I've gone through my 1list there. I can account for why

these patients were sick. They were symptomatic

patients.

And --

And to take the approach -- sorry for cutting across
you -- taking the approach that all urinary tract

infections can be treated by taking an oral antibiotic,

I mean it's the vast majority but there are some

selected cases that do need some strong antibiotics.

So it's a targeted individual treatment but I can

account for my patients.

But were you following the process is the question?

Yes.

Yes, they had positive cultures and the

microbiology team were involved. A lot of them would

have gone through Shirley Tedford in the ambulatory

centre, and part of the process was to have urine

cultures done and the microbiologist spoken to. I'm

accounting for my patients.

Just to be clear, it would appear that The Trust hasn't

differentiated between your practice and Mr. O'Brien's

in terms of their approach to you through this

correspondence?

It would appear to be that way. well, I'm reading this

here as well.

Yes and subsequently, you, with Mr. -- you put your

name to an article published in the Journal

of Infection signed by yourself, Mr. O0'Brien and

Mr.

Koo, which I suppose was the same hymn sheet
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endorsing antibiotic approaches in the field of

recurrent IBTS?

Yes, we had written the paper on this. It was mainly

Ted by Mr. 0'Brien and Mr. Koo, but they had been using

my patients as well.

Yes. I am just conscious of the distinction you drew

earlier. Do you agree that's a fine line distinction

in terms of your approach compared with Mr. O0'Brien's?

I wouldn't say a fine Tine.

I would say I focused on

the more symptomatic patients at the time and getting

a better response with intravenous antibiotics than

ploughing on with oral antibiotics.

was Mr. Akhtar also a participant in the approach that

you and Mr. O'Brien were adopting, allowing you the

distinction you draw?

Mr. Akhtar joined the unit in 2007. Again, it may take

a period of time to build up a practice of such, but

I wasn't aware of Mr. Akhtar being a major contributor

to the numbers.

He may have used the ambulatory unit,

but I'm not aware of his major activity in that arena.

In terms of your compliance you've said,

notwithstanding what The Trust may be pointing out

here, that you considered that any patient moving

forward from 2009/2010 was treated in accordance with

the protocol that was adopted so you were in compliance

and you had no difficulty complying, Mr. O'Brien,

I just want to ask you about his approach. If we go to
TRU-281944. This is Mr. Mackle writing in June 2011

and he 1is saying:
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"I am seriously concerned that you don®"t seem to recall
our conversation at a meeting last Thursday. At that
meeting 1 informed you that if you wanted to admit

a patient for pre-op antibiotics or for 1V fluids and
antibiotics, that a meeting had to be held with

Sam Sloan and a microbiologist and that this was

a pre-requisite, non-negotiable. You have also been
given this in writing following a previous meeting with
Dr. Rankin and myself. 1 now find that you initially
planned to admit a patient this week without having
discussion with anyone and then, when challenged, you

spoke to Dr. Rajesh Ranjudran.'

2012, TRU-259904. M™Mr. Mackle, 30th January 2012

writing to Sam Hall copying Mr. O'Brien in:

"1 have been advised that a patient may have been
admitted last week to urology by Mr. O"Brien and under
his instruction was given 1V antibiotics, the latter
necessitating a central line to be iInserted. 1 have
checked with Dr. Ranjudran and he advises me that no
discussion took place prior to the administration of

antibiotics."

2013, if we could bring up TRU-276833. Just scrolling

down, Dr. Tracey Boyce is writing to Heather Trouton:

"Mr. O"Brien seems to have another patient on

gentamicin this month with no evidence of infection.
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I am sure Anne has the patient”s details if you want to

look at their reason for admission further."

Then in, I think it's 2016, if we go to Mr. Suresh's
statement at wWIT-50361, and at 47.12 he says:

"On the clinical aspects there were some discrepancies

in the practice of individuals in terms of choice and
usage of antibiotics. For example, Mr. Aidan O"Brien
admitted a patient for administration of intravenous

antibiotic just based on the symptoms. 1 do not reca
the exact date or month. |1 directly discussed with h
during the joint ward rounds about seeking the advice
of microbiologist. He paid attention to my suggestio

and acted accordingly."

A number of contributors suggesting that,
notwithstanding the discussions held in 2009, 2010, t
introduction of a protocol and pathway, Mr. O'Brien
continued to be noncompliant. 1I'm not terribly
interested in whether there were vast numbers of thes
or whether these were isolated cases, but what I want
to understand from you is, given that both of you wer
being brought into, if you like, the room to have the
matters discussed and worked through with senior
managers, that must have necessitated conversations
between you and him about the approach of management?
The meeting with Dr. Loughran was fairly clear-cut.

was understood by me, I thought it was understood by
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Mr. O'Brien what he was saying. It was a very
appropriate way of helping us deal with a problem,
offering us a unit, a protocol, to actually follow,
which I did, as I pointed out. And my practice of this
had fallen off. I had very selected patients brought
in. Further treatments that we have 1is the
intravesical treatments that were now available. That
has made a big difference to our care pathway of
urinary tract infections. But, as I say, when needed
we had to phone Sam Sloan and a microbiologist to do
the same. It was fairly clear-cut. It wasn't
high-powered to know that that's what you had to do.

I remember doing that on a few occasions and getting it
sanctioned for my patients. I can't account for these
other ongoing ones for some years.

Again, you're the clinical lead, this 1is happening,
more than once Mr. O'Brien is, on the face of this
evidence, not compliant with the protocol. Has he
discussed that with you at all? Has he discussed his
preparedness to comply?

Yes. You are pointing at me knowing that this was
going on. No, Mr. O'Brien wasn't telling me that he
was continuing to admit people and not speaking to the
microbiologist and not speaking to -- so that
conversation has not been had with me. I don't know if
I was meant to be going and trying to source out that
information. I mean I -- I many that's -- to try to
keep a check on all that's going on in the department

is very hard for me to do.
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Yes?

Number one, I myself have a busy

practice from

a general perspective. I ran the stone treatment

centre, I was the lead clinician.
all the finer points going on unl
It is hard to know about all the

Am I meant to know

ess told? I am busy.

things going on. So

it does take people to come and tell me, and

Mr. O'Brien didn't come to tell me that he was

continuing to admit people, if that's what you're

asking.

So for you to know you would either have to be told,

and clearly there's a team on the ward, there's access

to patient notes and a network through which people

could report to you, or indeed report to others. And

I suppose there might be an argument for saying that,

given the views that might have been expressed to

management about the benefits, as Mr. O0'Brien perceived

them, of this form of treatment,

with the protocol should have been the subject of some

checking or audit by others. 1Is

that his compliance

that a reasonable

point to make in governance terms?

That's a very reasonable point to make on terms, yes.

MR. WOLFE KC: It 1is 11.30.

CHAIR: I think we'll come back at quarter to 12.

THE HEARING ADJOURNED BRIEFLY AND RESUMED AS FOLLOWS:

MR. WOLFE KC: I want for the next hour or so to Took

at the whole area of appraisal.
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46 Q.

what I said this morning, we are considering these
issues under the broad theme of why the issues, of
which we're now so familiar, concerning Mr. O0'Brien's
practice didn't get addressed much before 2017. This
morning we've looked at some early warnings,

Mr. Hagan's evidence, the IV issue. Now we are going
to look at appraisal, and I suppose the focus of my
guestioning is whether appraisal was an effective tool
or an ineffective tool. was it a sufficiently focused

tool at identifying concerns around doctors?

You told us in your statement, Mr. Young, that you
undertook various appraisals for Mr. Akhtar,

Mr. Glackin, Mr. Brown, Mr. Suresh, Mr. 0'Donoghue, and
for the years 2010 through to 2015 you conducted four
appraisals for Mr. 0'Brien; isn't that right?

Correct.

we've had various perspectives, notably from

Dr. Simpson, who came into the Medical Director's role
and drove appraisal in its early years. He was
explaining to us that appraisal wasn't designed,
although he had his views about it, it wasn't designed
as a performance management tool. It was, to use his
words, a formative tool. It was designed to help
doctors put their best food forward, it was about
personal development. Still and all, if there were
issues of concern about a doctor's practice, they could
be discussed during appraisal; isn't that right?

It is a forum for discussion, yes.

40

11

145

145

146

146

146



O 00 N O v h W N B

N N N NN NNNNDNRRRRRRBRRPR R R
© 00 N O U & W N R O ©W 0 N O U1 A WN R O

47 Q.
A.
48 Q.
A.

You said on the Tast occasion that the quality of

appraisal is only as good as the information
supplied to you?
Yes, I said that, yes.

that is

when you think back over the five years during which

you appraised Mr. O'Brien and you consider the issues

that developed, that were investigated, and 1

ed

ultimately to this Inquiry, do you think appraisal as

a tool could have been used by you in any other way,

any better way, to have targeted, addressed,

sought to

remedy some of the issues with which we're concerned?

Indeed. oOn reflection, obviously, yes, the i

ssue of

triage could have been brought up at the consultation

more than is enclosed in the document. But,

as I say,

it is as good as the information that is being

supplied. I do appreciate that appraisal has moved on

in its arena and the way it is conducted now.

when I did my original appraisal training in

Back
2009,

2010, it was all about engaging with the appraisee,

trying to encourage an open forum and for the appraisee

to showcase what they had to do and offer from

a performance perspective. I know you used the word

"performance" there, but it was for them to show that

they were up to date with their plan of action, their

education, that they were meeting standards,
of the team, these sorts of things. But not
I understand that appraisal has moved on and
interrogating, if you want to use that word,

when I was involved in it originally.
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49 Q.
A.
50 Q.
A.

we'll see as we move through some of the years that,

I think it's fair to say, and maybe you would agree
with me, that the issues around triage, around keeping
notes at home, around the delays in dictating and
issuing correspondence, are nowhere addressed with

Mr. O'Brien, at least in writing. Unless I missed
something. Is that something you would agree with?

I would agree with that.

Yes. I'm going, in a moment, just to take you through
some of the years. 1I'm going to use this exercise 1in
order to bring in other issues with which the Inquiry
is familiar which occurred during some of those years
which, again, don't feature in discussions. I'm going
to be asking you, just to give you a heads up, whether,
if you were aware of these issues, should they have
been discussed. It will also be an opportunity to ask
your views, for example, on the issue of actioning
results, say, from investigations and that kind of

thing.

Just in terms of what you said there, that there's been
changes in how appraisal is done, it's perhaps more
interrogating, to use your word, which I take to mean
is the style of appraisal now can allow for, or maybe
requires greater focus on shortcomings and teasing
those out, maybe, with questioning, appraiser to
appraisee, and working up solutions perhaps. 1Is that
your understanding of how it now works?

That is my understanding of how it now works.
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51

52

53

I haven't done appraisal for, appraiser for

a considerable number of years.

Looking, just to pick one example from 2015 I think it

was. If we go to TRU-251319. At the heart of the
appraisal process, when you did it was the developmen

of a personal development plan. That allowed doctors

to set targets, and you've described these as generally

educational or to address a specific project as oppos
to target clinical driven output. So there's an

example of a personal development plan for 2015. Thi
has been signed off in December 2016, a few days befo

the MHPS investigation is launched.

I'm conscious that the appraisal process worked, at
least at that time, worked in arrears. You're signin
off in 2016 but Tooking back at what happened during
the calendar year 2015; is that right?

Mr. O'Brien's appraisals were always slow in coming
through. They were very delayed in comparison to
everybody else's. I think if you look at the dates o
all the previous ones signed off, in fact one apprais
may have been involving two years in the one go.
2012-2013, 1 think.

Yes. And then '13 would have been done because I thi
he was revalidating in '14, so that was done early.
they were always a year behind.

Yes. So the personal development plan here is

I suppose in this respect is somewhat wide ranging.
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54 Q
A.
55
A.
56 Q.

"To address iIn a durable and effective manner my long
inpatient waiting list and in so doing to reduce

inequity in the waiting lists."

He's saying. That is his language is it?

Yes.

"To address long waiting list for urological cancer
reviews, to reduce the numbers of new patient

consultations. To attend course..."

Is this your handwriting?
The bottom Tine is my handwriting.

"To attend a course in urology."

So there are some thoughts here around practice issues
about I suppose the clinical challenges he's facing.

I suppose it does show the possibility through the
appraisal process of directing the appraisee's mind
towards gaps in the practice, shortcomings in the
practice or challenges in the practice?

Yes.

Let me bring you to 2010. This one was signed

off November 2011. It is TRU-251244. There it is,
just to show you the shape of it. Can we have that on
the screen. The form of it is, for a bit of

a background, a pen pic of the person being appraised
and setting out some of the information. So no formal
complains nor critical incidents are logged by The

Trust. Is that you observing that on the basis of what
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57

58

The Trust has told you as the appraiser?

It would be, yes.

There's action agreed for the next appraisal set out.
And, just going over the page -- so that is under the
heading of good medical care, maintaining good medical
practice. I assume there's definitions attaching to
each of these headings and you know what ground to
cover.

CHAIR: Could we make it a little bit bigger? I'm
struggling to read it. Thank you.

MR. WOLFE KC: This is telling us, telling the reader
what Mr. 0'Brien has done in terms of maintaining his
practice, the kinds of educational-type visits he's
made, safety courses he has undertaken, and there
regionally being involved in discussions about bladder
dysfunction and an MDT. So just scrolling through
again so we can see the shape of the form, I'm not
terribly concerned with the detail at this point.
Setting out working relationships with colleagues which
is described as a good relationship with colleagues,
nurses and ancillary staff. A reference to a current
issue at that time. There was concern around the ward
reconfiguration, you dealt with that, the challenges of

that in your statement.

Scrolling down again, just so we see the full shape of
this.
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59

Relations with patients are described in positive terms
generally, albeit two complaints have been raised which
have been resolved, one a w